FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2023 2:26 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102238-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

CHRISTOPHER HOWARD CONKLIN,

Respondent.

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 846345 The Honorable Matthew H. Thomas No. 19-1-04525-8

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Theodore M. Cropley Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 27453 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 355-5585

I. INTRODUCTION

In his briefing in front of the Court of Appeals, Conklin argued that his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed as the State failed to introduce sufficient evidence to support all of the alternative means charged. The State conceded that the convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed on that basis. *In the alternative*, Conklin argued that his convictions for assault in the first degree should merge with his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree. The State conceded that these convictions would otherwise merge.

However, the Court of Appeals *both* dismissed the kidnapping convictions as insufficient evidence was introduced to support all of the alternative means charged *and* merged the assault convictions with the invalid kidnapping convictions. This had the result of dismissing the otherwise valid convictions for assault in the first degree.

The State requests that this Court accept review as the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, the State of Washington, Respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in section III of this Petition.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in *State v. Conklin*, COA No. 84634-5-I, which was filed on May 8, 2023, together with the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration filed on June 29, 2023. The

- 2 -

¹ The filed copy of the Court of Appeal's opinion incorrectly lists the date of the decision as May 8, 2022.

decision vacated Conklin's convictions for two counts of kidnapping in the first degree as the State conceded that the prosecution did not provide sufficient evidence to support both of the alternative means charged. However, the decision *also* merged the two convictions for assault in the first degree with the vacated kidnapping convictions, which had the result of vacating the valid convictions for assault in the first degree.² Appendix ("App.") at 2-4, 6.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision to merge Conklin's valid convictions for assault in the first degree into his vacated convictions for kidnapping in the first degree, which had the result of vacating his valid convictions for assault in the first degree, is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court and a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the this Court?

The State does not seek review of the portion of the opinion

affirming Conklin's conviction for assault in the first degree. App. at 6-9.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arlen Stebbins owned property located in Lakebay, Washington. Stebbins was not at the property often, as he and his wife resided in Tacoma. 7/19/21 RP 681-700. Stebbins would check on the property intermittently. 7/19/21 RP 681-685.

In November 2019, Stebbins discovered a "keep out" sign at the entrance to his property that he did not put there and several items missing. This led to Stebbins deciding to stay at the property for several nights. Stebbins' friend, John Fryer, stayed with him. 7/19/21 RP 702-710.

On November 22, 2019, at approximately 4:00 a.m., both Stebbins and Fryer were asleep in the living room of the mobile home and were awakened by a male standing over them holding a revolver. The male demanded to know where "Larry" was. 7/19/21 RP 711-712. Both Stebbins and Fryer told the male that there was no "Larry" and that Stebbins was the owner of the property. Another male holding a rifle came down the hallway of the mobile home stating "it's all clear." The male holding the

handgun, later identified as co-defendant Giancoli, ordered Stebbins and Fryer to get up and to come with them. The male with the rifle was later identified as Conklin. 7/21/21 RP 711-716; 7/29/21 RP 449-457.

Conklin and Giancoli ordered Stebbins and Fryer to leave their wallets and phones behind and directed them at gunpoint out of the mobile home and to a black Escalade parked down the driveway. 7/19/21 RP 718, 730; 7/29/21 RP 464. As they were walking down the driveway toward the Escalade, Fryer started running. Conklin fired at Fryer with the rifle. 7/19/21 RP 728; 7/29/21 RP 467. Stebbins started yelling and Giancoli hit him in the head with the handgun, ordering him to get in the vehicle while holding the gun to his head. Stebbins refused and Conklin walked over to him and shot him in his legs with the rifle. Stebbins then agreed to get in the car, but instead ran into the surrounding woods. 7/19/21 RP 731-740; 7/29/RP 477-478.

Conklin and Giancoli fled the area in the Escalade.

Officers responded to a dispatch call and patrol vehicles gave

chase to the Escalade. 7/20/21 RP 51, 54, 55, 82; 7/21/21 RP 18, 26. They followed as the Escalade left the freeway, collided with a median, and came to a stop at the parking lot of an apartment building in Gig Harbor. 7/21/21 RP 44. One deputy observed a white male wearing a reddish-orange beanie, later identified as Giancoli, exit the vehicle from the driver's door. 7/21/21 RP 48-62.

Deputies located Giancoli in the brush and took him into custody. Conklin was later located after a K-9 tracked and found him also lying in the brush a short distance from the vehicle. 7/27/21 RP 31-58.

A jury convicted Conklin of two counts of assault in the first degree, burglary in the first degree, two counts of kidnapping in the first degree, and unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree. CP 441-442. The trial court sentenced appellant to a total term of 704 months in prison. CP 446-447.

In his briefing before the Court of Appeals filed on May 16, 2022, Conklin argued that his convictions for assault in the first degree should be reversed due to impermissibly suggestive and flawed identification procedures. In his supplemental briefing filed on October 3, 2022, Conklin argued that his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be reversed because insufficient evidence was presented to support an alternative means and that his conviction for burglary in the first degree must be reversed because the jury was instructed on an uncharged alternative means.

Conklin also argued in the alternative that, if the court did not reverse his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree, due to insufficient evidence to support an alternative means, the court should find that his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree merge with the convictions for assault in the first degree:

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Conklin respectfully asks the Court to vacate the burglary conviction, [and] reverse the kidnapping convictions for insufficient evidence. *In the*

alternative, he asks the Court to merge the kidnapping with the assault convictions.(emphasis added). Apart from the merger claim, Conklin made no argument in his supplemental briefing regarding the validity of his convictions for assault in the first degree.

On May 8, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion. In this opinion, this court rejected Conklin's argument that his convictions for assault in the first degree should be reversed due to impermissibly suggestive and flawed identification procedures. App. at 6-9. The court also accepted the State's concessions that Conklin's convictions for burglary in the first degree and kidnapping in the first degree should be reversed. App. at 3-5.

However, in regards to Conklin's convictions for kidnapping, the court *also* granted Conklin's request that his vacated kidnapping convictions merge with his convictions for assault in the first degree, which had the result of vacating the convictions for assault in the first degree, even though that argument was made (and conceded to) as an *alternative*

argument to the argument that the convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed due to insufficient evidence to support both of the alternative means charged.

VI. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision to merge Conklin's valid convictions for assault in the first degree into his vacated convictions for kidnapping in the first degree, which had the result of vacating his valid convictions for assault in the first degree, conflicts with a decision of this Court, a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and involves issues of substantial public interest.

The double jeopardy doctrine protects defendants against "prosecution oppression." 5 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, JEROLD H. ISRAEL & NANCY J. KING, CRIMINAL PROCEDURE § 25.1(b), at 630 (2d ed.1999). The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides "[n]o person shall ... be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb...." Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution mirrors the federal constitution stating "[n]o person shall be ... twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." "Washington's double jeopardy clause offers the same scope of protection as the

federal double jeopardy clause." *In re Pers. Restraint of Percer*, 150 Wn.2d 41, 49, 75 P.3d 488 (2003) (*citing State v. Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d 95, 107, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995)). Both prohibit "(1) a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal, (2) a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction, and, [as important in this case,] (3) *multiple punishments for the same offense imposed in the same proceeding.*" *Percer*, 150 Wn.2d at 48–49 (*citing State v. Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 260, 996 P.2d 610 (2000); *Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d at 100) (emphasis added).

In *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 238–39, 937 P.2d 587 (1997), this Court held that the merger doctrine arises only when a defendant has been found guilty of multiple charges, and the court must then ask if the Legislature intended only one punishment for the multiple convictions. Although courts may not enter multiple convictions for the same offense without offending double jeopardy, merger only becomes an issue at sentencing. *Id.* at 238.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals agreed with the parties that Conklin's convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed due to insufficient evidence being presented to support all of the alternative means charged. Accordingly, the merger doctrine was inapplicable here as, with the kidnapping convictions reversed, there remained nothing to "merge" Conklin's convictions for assault in the first degree with.³

In other words, under *Michielli*, the merger issue only arises if *both* the convictions for assault in the first degree *and* the convictions for kidnapping in the first degree were valid; in that case, the convictions would merge and Conklin would be appropriately sentenced for either the kidnappings or the assaults, whichever were the greater offenses. Here, however, as

_

³ Conklin recognized this in his supplemental briefing as he argued that his kidnapping convictions should be reversed due to insufficient evidence of the alternative means charged and that, *in the alternative*, his assault convictions merge into his kidnapping convictions.

Conklin's convictions for kidnapping in the first degree were *not* valid, the Court of Appeals' decision to merge these convictions with Conklin's valid convictions for assault in the first degree conflicts with this Court's decision in *Michielli*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals' decision dismissing Conklin's convictions for assault in the first degree also conflicts with a published decision from the Court of Appeals. In State v. Schwab, 134 Wn. App. 635, 643-44, 141 P.3d 658 (2006), the court indicated that it had earlier ordered the lower court to vacate the defendant's valid manslaughter conviction on double jeopardy grounds, as that conviction merged with his felony murder conviction, and on remand the lower court complied with this order. However, when that court later additionally vacated the defendant's felony murder conviction, the basis for the original double jeopardy holding disappeared. Without the felony murder conviction, the defendant could no longer be punished twice for the same crime. The court found that when the trial court reinstated the defendant's original manslaughter conviction, which was valid when the jury returned its verdict, the court merely restored him to the same position he would have been in if the error—charging and convicting him of felony murder—had not occurred. *Id.* at 643.

Accordingly, the double jeopardy doctrine does not preclude reinstating Conklin's convictions for assault in the first degree because these convictions were vacated *solely* to prevent double punishment for the same crime, not because the jury's verdict was somehow in error, and the basis for the merging of Conklin's convictions for assault and kidnapping are no longer applicable as his kidnapping convictions were dismissed on other grounds. The State may bring multiple charges and the jury may convict on all charged counts without violating double jeopardy. It is only when the trial court enters judgment and imposes sentence on more than one conviction for the same crime that double jeopardy is implicated. When a conviction is vacated on double jeopardy grounds, the validity of the jury's verdict of guilty on the vacated charge remains unimpaired. Schwab, 134

Wn. App. at 644. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision to dismiss Conklin's convictions for assault in the first degree conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Finally, the decision of the Court of Appeals involves an issue of substantial public interest. The State has a compelling interest in promoting the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens. *State v. Smith*, 185 Wn. App. 945, 955, 344 P.3d 1244 (2015); *State v. Balzer*, 91 Wn. App. 44, 56, 954 P.2d 931 (1998). The State also has an interest in affirming valid convictions. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 108, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

Here, as set forth above, by granting the State's concession and reversing Conklin's two convictions for kidnapping in the first degree, Conklin was afforded the entire relief he sought. To *additionally* vacate Conklin's otherwise valid convictions for

two counts of assault in the first degree,⁴ just because they would otherwise merge with his convictions for kidnapping in the first degree *had those kidnapping convictions been valid*, grants Conklin an unwarranted windfall and deprives the State of its compelling interest to promote the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens, and see that valid convictions are affirmed. As such, the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VII. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the State requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Conklin*.

///

⁴ First degree assault has a seriousness level of 12 and first degree kidnapping has a seriousness level of 10. RCW 9A.40.020(2); RCW 9.94A.515; *In re Pers. Restraint of Burchfield*, 111 Wn. App. 892, 900, 46 P.3d 840 (2002).

This document is in 14 point font and contains 2,469 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.