FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/30/2023 2:09 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102238-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner

٧.

CHRISTOPHER CONKLIN, Respondent

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

Court Of Appeals No. 846345-I Pierce County Superior Court No.19-1-04524-8

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is Christopher Conklin, the appellant below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Christopher Conklin respectfully requests that this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision in *State v. Conklin*, No. 846345. A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Court of Appeals rightly recognized the State argued any assault was intended to force the alleged victims into the vehicle, as a basis for the kidnapping conviction. No other purpose or effect was argued or presented. Thus, when the Court vacated the kidnapping convictions, the allegations of continuous conduct which were a part of the kidnapping charge were also vacated.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arlen Stebbins and his friend John Fryer stayed two nights in Stebbins' mobile home to fend off potential intruders. (7/19/21 RP 702, 710). The property had recently been broken into and items had been stolen. (7/19/21 RP 681).

Around 4 a.m. on the second morning, two men entered the mobile home looking for someone named Larry. (7/19/21 RP 711-12). Each intruder carried a firearm. (7/19/21 RP 711, 716; 7/29/21 RP 449-50, 456-57).

The two men directed Stebbins and Fryer to get up. The men told them "you're going with us" to the car. They told them to leave their cell phones and wallets in the mobile home. (7/19/21 RP 718, 720, 723; 7/29/21 RP 464).

As they got to the car, one man told Stebbins "Shut up and get in the car or I'm going to shoot you right here."

(7/19/21 RP 727). As Stebbins kept asking questions, the man said, "I*'ll shoot you if you don't get in the car" and then hit him in the head with the revolver. (7/19/21 RP 728). The man continued to tell him to get in the car. (7/19/21 RP 730).

When Stebbins argued with the man about getting in the car, the other man shot him in the legs. (7/19/21 RP 734). Stebbins got into the car and then fell out. After he fell, he got up and ran from the car. He heard no other shots. (7/19/21 RP 736).

Fryer also testified as they walked down the driveway one of them told him to get into the vehicle. (7/29/21 RP 764). When they got to the car, he heard one of them yell, "You can't do that", and then saw his friend get hit in the face with the gun. (7/29/21 RP 467). Fryer ran away from the vehicle. (7/29/21 RP 467). He heard shots being fired. (7/29/21 RP 468).

The State charged Conklin by third amended information with two counts of assault in the first degree, two counts of kidnapping in the first degree, one count of burglary in the first degree, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm second degree. CP 89-92.

Mr. Conklin was convicted on all charges, with firearm enhancements on each, with the exception of unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 239-249. Mr. Conklin filed a timely appeal. CP 459-460.

On review, the Court agreed with the appellant's argument and the State's concession that instructional and evidentiary challenges to the kidnapping, assault and burglary charges required reversal and vacation of the convictions and the firearm enhancements, keeping only the unlawful possession of a firearm. *Slip Op.* at p.1,6. *Slip Op.* at p. 6.

The State later sought reconsideration of it's concessions and the Court's opinion. The Court denied the State's motion for reconsideration. (Appendix B).

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Decision of The Court of Appeals To Vacate The Convictions Does Not Conflict With Published Decisions of Washington State Courts.

The State is mistaken regarding the Court's reasoning in dismissing the assault convictions and corresponding firearm enhancement convictions.

The State charged assault, kidnapping, and burglary as

a crime of the same or similar character, and/or a crime based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan and/or so closely connected in respect to time, place and occasion that it would be difficult to separate proof of one charge from proof of the others...

CP 89-90.

A continuing course of conduct requires an ongoing enterprise with a single objective. *State v. Gooden,* 51 Wn.App. 615, 619-20, 754 P.2d 1000, *rev. denied,* 111 Wn.2d 1012 (1988). "[E]vidence that a defendant engages in a series of actions intended to secure the same objective supports the characterization of those actions as a continuing course of conduct..." *State v. Fiallo-Lopez,* 78 Wn.App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294(1995).

Here, the continuing course of conduct was geared toward one end: the kidnapping.

The jury instructions specified that to convict for assault in the first degree, it must find the assaults were committed with a firearm and with intent to inflict great bodily harm. CP 184, 186.

The jury instructions for kidnapping in the first degree, numbers 26 and 28, specified that to convict for kidnapping the jury must find the defendant abducted another with intent to inflict bodily injury on the person, or

to inflict extreme mental distress on that person. CP 198,200.

The State relied on the act of shooting as the basis for the elements of assault and the "intent to inflict bodily injury" element of kidnapping. *The act of shooting was to force Fryer and Stebbins into the vehicle.*

His purpose, his intent, was to stop him, to incapacitate him. He didn't want him to get away. He wanted him to get inside that Escalade, just like he wanted Corky to get inside that Escalade...

RP 650-51.

Regarding the kidnapping, the prosecutor said:

It wasn't just restraining them in this house, they weren't just restraining them there. They forced them get up and go. They wanted them to get into that Escalade. They were threatening them to get into that Escalade. They could have affected that deadly force on both of them if they wanted to.... *Mr. Conklin shot him in the legs when he would not get into that Escalade*, which made Corky fall into the Escalade. He was trying to get him to do that. *The intent was to inflict bodily injury.* Conklin shot at Fryer and shot Corky.

RP 654. (emphasis added).

In *Davis*, the Court directed review of offense merger to be determined by looking at how the offenses were charged and proved. *State v. Davis*, 177 Wn.App. 454, 311 P.3d 1278(2013).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized the State charged Conklin in a series of acts, constituting a single plan: a kidnapping. Thus, the alleged assault had "... no independent purpose or effect because the State argued the assault was intended to force Fryer and Stebbins in a vehicle as a basis for the kidnapping conviction." Slip Op. at 3; Davis, 177 Wn. App. 454, 465, 311 P.3d 1278 (2013). (Emphasis added).

The Court also agreed with appellant and the State that the State provided insufficient evidence to support the alternative means of kidnapping, intent to inflict extreme mental distress, as provided in the jury

instructions. It properly dismissed the kidnapping convictions. *See State v. Garcia,* 170 Wn.2d 828, 318 P.3d 266 (2014).

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should not accept review of the State's petition. The State charged Conklin with crimes based on a series of acts constituting a single scheme. The Court of Appeals properly viewed the convictions through that lens, merging the assault with the kidnapping convictions. The Court rightly agreed the State provided insufficient evidence for a reasonable juror to conclude the State had proven alternative means for kidnapping and reversed and vacated the convictions.

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr.

Conklin respectfully asks this Court to deny the State's

Petition for Review.

This document has 1,291 words excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.